FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2014 DEC 12 PM 5:00 *ec*

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY: _____
DEPUTY

NO. 466023

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CSILLA MUHL
Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

DAVIES PEARSON PC
Defendant/Respondent

BRIEF OF APPELLANT CSILLA MUHL

(CORRECTED)

Pierce County Cause No. 13-2-07742-1

JUDITH A. LONNQUIST
WSBA No. 06421
BRIAN L. DOLMAN
WSBA No. 32365
1218 Third Avenue, Suite 1500
Seattle, WA 98101
Tel: (206) 622-2086
Email: LOJAL@aol.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by striking expert witness Dr. Rosalind Barnett as a late-disclosed expert without analyzing the *Burnet* factors on the record, particularly when a lesser sanction was available and would have sufficed.
2. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment on Plaintiff's sex discrimination claim where there were material issues of fact to support that sex was a substantial factor in Ms. Muhl's termination.
3. Because a reasonable jury could have found for Ms. Muhl on her retaliation claim where Defendant removed Ms. Muhl from the partnership track and terminated her employment after she raised concerns about sex bias at Davies Pearson, summary judgment on her retaliation claim was improper.
4. The trial court's decisions were stained with a lack of objectivity and violated the appearance of fairness doctrine, such that the case should be considered by a different judge on remand.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- A. Where Plaintiff identifies an expert witness after the disclosure deadline, but before the close of discovery, did the trial court err by refusing to engage in the required *Burnet* analysis or by denying the existence of lesser sanctions? (Assignment of Error Number 1).

- B. Where a long-term employee establishes the following evidence in response to summary judgment in an employment discrimination action: 1) favorable performance ratings, 2) circumstances of preferential treatment by the employer based on an employee's gender, 3) Plaintiff's complaint to her supervisor about observations of sex bias prior to her involuntary termination, 4) Defendant's decision to hire Plaintiff's eventual replacement on the basis of gender, and 5) significant differences in employee discipline to demonstrate pretext – did the trial court err by failing to consider the evidence in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, thereby wrongly dismissing her claims as a result? (Assignments of Error Numbers 2 and 3).
- C. Where the trial court fails to follow established precedent prior to deciding to strike Plaintiff's witness, makes statements as a part of its ruling that were material and factually incorrect, and views the evidence in the favor of the moving party even when unsupported by the record, does the appearance of fairness doctrine require remand for future proceedings before a different trial judge? (Assignment of Error Number 4).

II. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff brings this appeal based on the exclusion of her expert witness, the fact that she demonstrated sufficient evidence of discriminatory treatment and rebutted the employer's pretext of alleged performance deficiencies, and received decisions from the trial court that include a residue of unfairness. Interestingly, this was Plaintiff's second experience of working for Defendant. She previously worked for Davies Pearson for over a year when she left the firm to join a departing shareholder in March 1997. Ms. Muhl later returned to the employ of Defendant in October 2006 as a Contract Partner in its family law

department, where she remained for over six years until Defendant terminated her employment in November 2012.

By all accounts, the employer and its clients benefited from Ms. Muhl's services as a family law attorney. During the years of 2010-12, Ms. Muhl received favorable performance ratings, positive case results and revenue collections that were at or near the expectations for her position. For fiscal year 2011, she experienced a financial milestone of collecting revenues that far exceeded her costs as employee. At no time did Davies Pearson provide its employee with a written warning of her allegedly deficient performance, as her supervisors only offered suggestions of subjective areas of improvement. In the year of her termination, Ms. Muhl reasonably estimated that she remained on track of her financial objectives, save for Defendant's decision to cut off her collections and end her employment before the end of the year.

Prior to the decision to terminate her employment, Ms. Muhl made complaints to her employer about unequal treatment. These complaints primarily focused on accountability differences in terms of financial assessments, as well as the loss of intra-firm referrals to a younger, less experienced colleague. In response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, Plaintiff identified several disparities between the treatment that she experienced and the leeway afforded to younger male attorneys in

the firm. She also proved that Defendant hired Mark Nelson, a male attorney with far less experience, when no position opening existed and without a needs assessment for its family law department. Davies Pearson admitted to hiring Mr. Nelson based, in part, on his gender. Not only did Mr. Nelson siphon off intra-firm referrals from Ms. Muhl, but he effectively became her replacement as the second primary family law attorney following her termination.

In support of its adverse employment action, the law firm relied on several incidents: 1. Ms. Muhl's alleged emotional reaction to a pre-trial ruling while in the presence of her client; 2. An inquiry by Pierce County Superior Court Judge Hickman about Ms. Muhl's courtroom conduct during a trial; and 3. Her decision not to appear on behalf of a different client at a contempt hearing. These incidents are pretextual, as Davies Pearson never raised concern or sought to discipline Ms. Muhl in a contemporaneous manner; the first two events occurred more than a year prior to her termination. The employer either expressed satisfaction with the resolution of these events, enjoyed the financial compensation from Ms. Muhl's services, or realized that she decided against appearing after receiving her client's consent and the outcome did not prejudice his interests.

Ms. Muhl adequately demonstrated reasons for the timing of her disclosure of expert witness Dr. Barnett. She also amply established evidence of discriminatory treatment and rebutted the employer's alleged non-discriminatory basis for her discharge. Due to errors in rulings on these issues, as well as a violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine, Plaintiff requests this Court to reverse and remand to a different judicial officer for trial of this matter.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background Facts Related to Plaintiff's Appeal

For more than six years, Plaintiff Csilla Muhl received positive ratings for her professional services as one of two attorneys with a family law practice focus at Davies Pearson. (CP 287-88; 306-07). Despite her professional and financial successes, Defendant terminated her employment in November 2012. (CP 290-91; 314-15). This adverse employment action occurred after Ms. Muhl had voiced concerns that younger male attorneys received more favorable treatment within the firm. (CP 288-89; 309-11). She specifically complained about the loss of intra-firm referrals to a less experienced male attorney, Mark Nelson, whom Davies Pearson admitted to have hired for its family law department because of his gender. (CP 289). The employer also admitted that it hired

Mr. Nelson without an existing family law position opening or evaluating the workload needs to support an additional attorney. (*Id.*). In the end, Mr. Nelson effectively replaced Ms. Muhl as the second attorney with a primary family law practice emphasis, as the firm did not replace Plaintiff following her termination. (*Id.*).

To support its decision to terminate Ms. Muhl's employment, Davies Pearson relies on three incidents of alleged faulty performance: 1. An alleged overwrought response exhibited by Ms. Muhl while in the presence of her client; 2. Ms. Muhl's courtroom conduct during a trial that caused Pierce County Superior Court Judge Hickman to inquire about the propriety of her actions; and 3. Ms. Muhl's informed decision against appearing on behalf of a different client at a contempt hearing. (CP 290; 312-14). Not only had the employer decided against pursuing discipline contemporaneous with these events, but supervisors expressed satisfaction with the resolution of events that occurred more than a year prior. (*Id.*). Defendant also appeared confused as to the timing or resolution of certain events, which conflicted with its reliance on these events as justification for the termination decision. (*Id.*).

Aside from the general notion of more favorable treatment afforded to younger male attorneys, Ms. Muhl also identified other specific instances where male colleagues were able to escape criticism or

preserve their dignity. (CP 290-91; 314-15). This extended to instances of receiving the preferential label of “resignation” or avoiding discipline for misconduct. (*Id.*; CP 289). The firm did not treat Ms. Muhl in a similar manner.

B. Litigation History

Ms. Muhl filed the present lawsuit in Pierce County Superior Court on March 29, 2013, and Defendant filed its answer two months later on May 29, 2013. (Appendix A, Pierce County Linx Cover Sheet). The case was reassigned in May 2013, December 2013, and May 2014.¹ (*Id.*). Also in May 2014, Defendant filed a motion for partial summary judgment, which Judge Stolz granted on June 20, 2014. (*Id.*). On June 27, 2014, Defendant filed a second motion for summary judgment seeking to dismiss Plaintiff’s remaining claims. (*Id.*). Plaintiff’s deadline to disclose her primary witnesses was December 20, 2013. The deadline for additional witness disclosure was May 2, 2014.

Plaintiff delivered a Second Supplemental Witness Disclosure to Defendant on June 16, 2014, which identified Dr. Barnett as an expert witness. The disclosure of Dr. Barnett occurred six weeks after the latter witness disclosure deadline, but prior to the close of discovery by

¹ The parties reasonably inferred that one or more judges recused themselves due to Defendant’s long standing in the local legal community and the existence of real or perceived conflicts. Until Judge Stolz accepted the case, the number of judicial reassignments raised a question as to whether the parties’ trial date would hold.

approximately the same amount of time. Although the original discovery cutoff had been July 11, 2014, it was extended to July 25, 2014, for reasons unrelated to the date of Plaintiff's witness disclosure. If the case had not been dismissed on summary judgment, the trial was scheduled for September 25, 2014. (*Id.*).

C. Judge Stolz's Challenged Rulings

On August 8, 2014, Judge Stolz ruled on Defendant's motion to strike the expert testimony of Dr. Barnett and Defendant's motion for summary judgment. (CP 660, 663). In the course of making those rulings, Judge Stolz made statements that Plaintiff believes create a perception of fairness issue and warrant remand to a different judge. (RP 9, 21-22, 31-32, 34).

Judge Stolz excluded Dr. Barnett because she was disclosed after the deadline for primary witnesses. (RP 10:11-13). Plaintiff disclosed the opinions of Dr. Barnett – a psychologist educated at Harvard, a professor of gender studies and an author of a recently published work on related subject matter – who offered her socio-psychological assessment in regard to the treatment of Ms. Muhl in the workplace. (CP 592-95). While falling beyond the witness disclosure deadline, Ms. Muhl identified the witness after she read Dr. Barnett's book. (CP 588-89). The trial court somehow equated Dr. Barnett to a readily available local attorney that regularly

conducts workplace investigations. (RP 7:12-25). Dr. Barnett offered an expert perspective that is different from the function of a workplace investigator. Even after Plaintiff's counsel expressly alerted the trial court regarding the need to engage in a *Burnet* analysis, the court failed to conduct the required analysis on the record. (RP 5:4-25).

Judge Stolz's initial ruling striking Dr. Barnett, at Verbatim Transcript of Proceedings pages 7:8-8:20, was as follows:

Well, basically, what appears was done is: She went out after the deadline, substantially after the deadline, which was December 20, 2013, that she disclosed her primary witnesses. That includes her experts. Now, and she went out to try to find herself an expert witness late in the game. This case was actually filed in March. I mean, there was plenty of time for her to have identified an expert regarding this. I mean, we all see those cases where some neutral individual is hired to conduct an investigation into, usually, a governmental agency to determine whether or not there's an ongoing pattern of sexual, physical, you know, age, or other discrimination, you know. I mean, there are attorneys who routinely do that kind of investigation, you know. She went out and found somebody very, very, very late in the game to get some sort of an opinion; but she's well past her deadline. The trial date is September. The bottom line is: I am going to strike her as an expert witness in this case. I mean, she hasn't been disclosed in a timely manner. I mean, your discovery cutoff was in July. It was extended, you know; but you just don't come up with an expert opinion this late in the game. I mean your trial date is basically—six weeks away, you know. I mean that's not timely disclosure. That's not the way the rules work. Okay? So I'm going to strike, you know, even setting aside, shall we say, the meat of her opinions, you know, the facts that they may or may

not be based on. I mean these cases are fact-driven; so, you know, at this point, she was disclosed too late.”

(RP 7:8-8:20).

Ms. Muhl’s attorney, Brian Dolman, then sought clarification of the ruling, expressly citing *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997) and alerting the court to the requirement that it consider the availability of lesser sanctions on the record prior to choosing one of the harsher remedies allowable to address a discovery violation.

(RP 8:24-9:8).

The court’s response was superficial and dismissive, stating that no other sanction was available. Its analysis lacked any identification of another potential sanction, specifically stating why it was not available, or addressing the other two *Burnet* factors:

The Court: Well, there is no lesser sanction. I mean, the bottom line is: You disclosed her two weeks before the cutoff, you know. I mean, that isn’t sufficient time for someone to go out, hire an expert to review whatever work this other individual did, render an opinion that it’s, you know, based on nothing more than speculation; or it’s actually got some reality to it. I mean, there really is no other way to deal with this because you didn’t bother to get an expert in due diligent time; and you just don’t walk out and hire one, you know, two weeks before the cutoff and expect that you’re going to have meaningful discovery.

Mr. Dolman: And just so that the record is clear, we disclosed her more than two weeks before the discovery cutoff.

The Court: Towards the middle or end of June. The discovery cutoff was—what was it—the 14th?

Mr. Dolman: The 25th.

The Court: The 11th. The discovery cutoff was originally July 11th. I know it got extended but for other reasons, so I'm striking her as an expert witness.

Mr. Dolman: All right. I just want to make sure the record is clear.

The Court: And it also doesn't look like she did any kind of an actual investigation. I mean she certainly isn't considering any of the stuff that's been filed or has been tossed out there.

Mr. Dolman: She certainly has, Your Honor. It's in her report.

The Court: All right. Anyway, but I'm striking her as a witness because she wasn't disclosed timely. Now, let's move on to the summary judgment.

(RP 9:7-10:13).

Judge Stolz then proceeded to grant Defendant's motion for summary judgment in its entirety. (CP 660). She dismissed Plaintiff's sex discrimination claims in spite of the substantial evidence of superior treatment of a male comparator and replacement, as will be discussed below. She also dismissed Plaintiff's retaliation claim, although Plaintiff was removed from the partner track at her firm after complaining about sex

discrimination, despite having recently completed her most financially successful year on behalf of the firm.

In the course of making her rulings, Judge Stolz made several comments that would lead a reasonable person to question whether Ms. Muhl received fair and impartial consideration. Specifically, Judge Stolz expressed a level of knowledge and respect for the Defendant law firm. (RP 32:18-33:2). She also appeared to exaggerate the extent of a reaction by another judicial department in regard to Ms. Muhl's actions at trial; Judge Stolz's statement was not supported by the record in the present case. (RP 30:4-7; CP 312-13, 349). These oral rulings on summary judgment appeared to be based on either bias or outside information from the other judge.

The trial court judge also made other incorrect statements that appeared to purposely aid Defendant, or suggested that she misconstrued the factual record. In one instance, Judge Stolz argumentatively and errantly asserted that Ms. Muhl voluntarily resigned her position. (RP 21:21-22:10; CP 290-91, 314-15). When mistakenly identifying Rebecca Larson as a family law attorney, Judge Stolz conflated the number of female attorneys over 40 years of age within Defendant's family law department to

a total of three. (RP 29:3-6, 32:18-22). Despite comparator evidence of younger male attorneys receiving more favorable treatment, she discounted Ms. Muhl's evidence to state that Plaintiff had merely alleged "some nameless male attorney who received a better rating." (RP 34:2-4; CP 314-315). Judge Stolz also observed – contrary to all other evidence – that Defendant disciplined comparator family law attorney Mark Nelson for a significant error of failing to consult with his client prior to the entry of a divorce decree. (RP 34:4-13; CP 289). Whether considered as single events or collectively, these factual findings and rulings are strong indicators that fairness or judicial impartiality were lacking.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Applicable Legal Standards

Appeals from orders granting summary judgment are reviewed *de novo*, with the Court of Appeals engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Marquis v. City of Spokane*, 130 Wn.2d 97, 104-05, 922 P.2d 43 (1996) (citing *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982)); *Hiatt v. Walker Chevrolet Co.*, 120 Wn.2d 57, 65, 837 P.2d 618 (1992)). Summary judgment is appropriate only where there are no issues

of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* at 105 (citing *Fahn v. Cowlitz Co.*, 93 Wn.2d 368, 373, 610 P.2d 857 (1980)). When considering a motion for summary judgment, the trial court must consider all the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, in this case, Ms. Muhl. *Sellsted v. Washington Mut. Sav. Bank*, 69 Wn. App. 852, 859, 851 P.2d 716 (1993); *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). Summary judgment should not be granted unless reasonable minds could reach only one conclusion regarding the evidence. *Ruff v. King Co.*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 704, 887 P.2d 886 (1995).

A trial court's ruling admitting or excluding a witness is reviewed for abuse of discretion. However, the trial court invites error and abuses its discretion when it imposes a severe sanction, such as witness exclusion, without first conducting a detailed analysis on the record. *Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 314 P.3d 380, 388 (2013); *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 494, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997). Here, the trial judge granted Defendant's motion to exclude Dr. Barnett, Plaintiff's expert witness, without engaging in any detailed analysis on the record. Where the trial court has failed to perform the *Burnet* analysis on the record, the Court of Appeals cannot conduct a substitute analysis of the facts, even if the Court believes that the record provides adequate grounds

for such an analysis. *Blair v. TA-Seattle E. No 176*, 171 Wn.2d 342, 351, 254 P.3d 797 (2011).

B. The Trial Court Erred in Excluding Plaintiff's Expert Witness without Conducting the Required *Burnet* Analysis.

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