FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2015 JAN 12 AM 9: 14

STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 46602-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CSILLA MUHL

Appellant,

v.

DAVIES PEARSON, P.C.

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Lori M. Bemis, WSBA #32921 Dave J. Luxenberg, WSBA #28438 McGavick Graves, P.S. Attorneys for Respondent 1102 Broadway, Suite 500 Tacoma, WA 98402 Telephone (253) 627-1181 Facsimile (253) 627-2247

5

>

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

4. Muhl Proposed Transitioning Out of Davies and Muhl Requested Her Departure be Characterized as Termination After Consideration of Alternatives.

Muhl contends that she was terminated as a consequence of a complaint she alleges was made to Coleman in November 2011. (CP 310). In Muhl's recent version of events, she fails to mention that Muhl herself repeatedly brought up leaving Davies in December 2011 and in June 2012. (CP 70-71). Muhl's notes from a December 21, 2011 meeting state, "What is firm prepared to do for transition out [?]" (CP 275-76). Muhl testified that this was an item she wished to discuss with Coleman and it was actually discussed between them in their December 2011 meeting also reflect that Muhl initiated a discussion with Coleman regarding her transitioning out of Davies. (CP 231-33).

Muhl also alleges as evidence of discrimination that she was not given the opportunity to resign as, she contends, other males were.

14

However, Muhl's own testimony under oath regarding announcing her departure was:

[Coleman] said we could announce my transition to the rest of the firm three different ways. We could let everyone know that I decided to move on; the second option was that we'd been working on this decision mutually and agree that I will leave the firm; and a third option was to announce that the firm asked me to leave by November 30th.

(CP 559-60, 495). In order to bolster Muhl's claims, she simply ignores her prior unequivocal testimony. This same testimony is also reflected in Muhl's contemporaneous notes from her September 28, 2012 meeting outlining options for announcing her departure. (CP 561). In addition to Muhl's notes, Davies also provided evidence of a contemporaneous email to all shareholders asking they remain quiet about the decision to terminate Muhl until Muhl decided how she wanted to handle announcing her departure. (CP 142). Consistent with this is Muhl's own testimony, in which she admits that she was the one who decided to characterize her departure as a termination. (CP 561). Muhl also avers that she is the sole attorney characterized as a termination in Davies' discovery responses. The document Muhl references was clearly created after the commencement of litigation, as the undersigned counsel is identified as the contact for all existing Davies' employees. (CP 1-5, 358). Muhl apparently fails to take into consideration that some "resignations" may have been immediate resignations in lieu of termination, as was offered to Muhl. Muhl also admits that she does not know of a single person anyone at Davies spoke to regarding her departure from the firm. (CP 564). Finally, the attorney Muhl seeks to compare herself to favorably was the subject of an immediate announcement to associates that put the circumstances of his abrupt departure in an unfavorable light. (CP 497). Unlike Muhl, the male attorney was not given an opportunity to transition out of the firm or to decide how his departure would be announced to the firm. (CP 497).

5. Muhl's Alleged Statements Regarding the Firm's Demographics Occurred More than Nine Months Prior, Did Not Result in Retaliation and Were Not Known to Decision Makers.

Muhl's alleged complaint to Coleman regarding the firm's demographics preceded the decision to terminate her by more than nine months. (CP 493, 495). Ultimately, the decision to terminate Muhl was brought to a head by Muhl's failure to appear at the contempt hearing in September 2012. (CP 579-80, 587). Though Muhl now contends she was fired by the client, no notice of withdrawal was filed prior to the contempt proceeding. (CP 580). It is also undisputed that Caulkins' presence was welcomed by the client at the contempt hearing. (CP 57-58). Even if she were fired by the client, Davies' shareholders repeatedly testified that they

were critical of Muhl's failure to appear where she was still counsel of record in a matter. (CP 534, 543-44, 551-52, 555-56).

Muhl also contends that she was subsequently removed from the partnership track as result of her alleged complaints. Muhl contends that the first she learned that she was not on partner track was June 2012. (CP 311). Again, however, Muhl's contemporaneous notes from December 2011 show this topic was discussed months previously in response to her inquiry about her partnership prospects. (CP 276).

Approximately one month after Muhl's alleged complaint to Coleman, Muhl received a \$10,000 bonus, despite once again missing the incentive plan's hours threshold. (CP 234, 572). The two males Muhl identifies as receiving bonuses in 2012 both exceeded the billable hours threshold. (CP 492-93). Accordingly, they were paid bonuses they had earned, as set forth in the firm's written incentive plan.

Coleman testified that he did not perceive Muhl's recitation of Davies' demographics to be a complaint of the existing firm structure or its treatment of women and, therefore, did not share the details of the conversation with Davies' other shareholders or firm administrator. (CP 69). As such, Coleman's motives, even if they could be shown to be retaliatory, cannot have influenced other shareholders. In addition, it is clear that Caulkins was the source of the information regarding the contempt motion prompting consideration of Muhl's future at the firm. (CP 57-59). Caulkins testified that she shared information regarding Muhl's performance with Tomlinson and Coleman. (CP 57-59). Notably, Coleman also participated in the decision to hire Muhl in 2006. (CP 70). Finally, at the same time Muhl contends that she was the victim of discrimination on the basis of sex, both Caulkins and Rebecca Larson ("Larson"), also females over the age of forty, had already been repeatedly invited to consider becoming shareholders. (CP 53, 123-24, 127).

B. Facts Relevant to the Exclusion of Dr. Barnett's Opinion.

In opposition to Davies' second motion for summary judgment, Muhl submitted the report of Dr. Barnett. (CP 369-81). The witness disclosure deadline in the case was December 20, 2013. (CP 450). Dr. Barnett was disclosed on June 16, 2014, almost six months after the deadline. (CP 450). The content of Dr. Barnett's opinion was not disclosed to Davies until her report was actually provided to counsel on July 24, 2014, a full month after Davies had filed its second motion for summary judgment. (CP 453).

Muhl contends she did not become aware of Dr. Barnett's existence until April 2014. (CP 588). Assuming this is relevant, Muhl admits that the book that captured her attention was published in October 2013, two months prior to the required witness disclosure in December

18

2013. (CP 588). Davies moved to exclude the report of Dr. Barnett from consideration at summary judgment based on numerous other deficiencies in Dr. Barnett's report, including non-conformity with the local rules, applicable statutes, the rules of evidence, and case law. (CP 449-86). Based on Muhl's briefing, it does not appear that the decision to exclude Dr. Barnett's testimony from consideration on summary judgment is challenged, but solely the trial court's order from the bench prohibiting Dr. Barnett from testifying at trial. (Brief of Appellant pg. 1). Ultimately, the Court also excluded Dr. Barnett's testimony from consideration as part of summary judgment. (CP 663-64). In addition to the specific relief sought by Davies, during oral argument the judge also ruled that Dr. Barnett was prohibited from testifying at trial due to her late disclosure among other issues with the actual content of her testimony. (RP August 8, 2014 pgs. 9-10).

Muhl's disclosure was nearly six months beyond the deadline in the case schedule and the content of Dr. Barnett's opinion was not disclosed for another month. (CP 450, 453). Although Muhl had requested an extension of the time to conduct discovery, specifically depositions of Davies' employees, no other extension of deadlines was requested by counsel or addressed in the trial Court's order. (CP 83-84). As submitted on summary judgment, Dr. Barnett's report was not signed or sworn under penalty of perjury. Rather, it was merely attached to the declaration of Muhl's counsel. (CP 368-81).

The substance of the report was also problematic. Dr. Barnett did not personally observe any of the interactions in Davies' offices. According to her own report, she reviewed only a fraction of the depositions taken in the case, excluding a number of depositions conducted of shareholders who actually participated in the decision to terminate Muhl. (CP 369-81, 460). Dr. Barnett also repeatedly averred that Davies should not have had issues with Muhl's performance where clients did not actually complain. (CP 369-81). Yet, no authority was ever offered, for example from a best-practices stand point or from the rules of professional conduct, as to why the existence or absence of client complaints is a necessary factor for termination, particularly in an industry with specialized training which lay clients are rarely in a position to criticize. Further, such opinion explicitly disregards Caulkins' testimony reflecting Muhl's client requesting new counsel on the day of trial. (CP 56). Among these troubling lapses, Dr. Barnett also opined regarding Sok-Khieng Lim's ("Lim") exceptional performance while working at Davies, discounting it because Lim is of Asian heritage. (CP 369-81). Notably, Dr. Barnett opined that Lim "benefited" from her Asian heritage, despite the fact that Lim was not deposed and did not submit a declaration

in the case. In addition, Dr. Barnett did not review any of Lim's billable hour information or receivables. (CP 369-81).

Although the trial Court primarily referenced the timing of the disclosure of Dr. Barnett as an expert witness, numerous bases for her exclusion were brought to the trial Court's attention, any of which provide an appropriate and supplementary basis for the trial Court's ruling. (CP 449-86).

When ruling on the motion, Muhl's counsel queried regarding consideration of the <u>Burnet</u> factors, stating:

<u>Dolman</u>: [. . .] In the <u>Burnet</u> decision, it says that when the trial court chooses one of the harsher remedies allowable, it must be apparent on the record that the trial court explicitly consider the lesser sanction; and have you done so, Your Honor?

<u>Court</u>: Well, there is no lesser sanction. I mean, the bottom line is: You disclosed her two weeks before the cutoff, you know. I mean, that isn't sufficient time for someone to go out, hire an expert to review whatever work this other individual did, render an opinion that it's, you know, based on nothing more than speculation; or it's actually go some reality to it. I mean, there really is no other way to deal with this because you didn't bother to get an expert in due diligent time; and you just don't walk out and hire one, you know, two weeks before the cutoff and expect that you're going to have meaningful discovery.

<u>Dolman</u>: And just so that the record is clear, we disclosed her more than two weeks before the discovery cut-off.

<u>Court</u>: Towards the middle or end of June. The discovery cutoff was – what was it – the 14^{th} ?

Dolman: The 25th.

<u>Court</u>: The 11th. The discovery cutoff was originally July 11th. I know it got extended but for other reasons, so I'm striking her as an expert witness.

 $[\ldots]$

<u>Court</u>: And it also doesn't look like she did any kind of an actual investigation. I mean, she certainly isn't considering any of the stuff that's been filed or has been tossed out there.

(RP August 8, 2014 pgs. 9-10). The substance of Dr. Barnett's actual opinion was not provided until July 24, 2014. (CP 453). Trial was scheduled for September 25, 2014. (Brief of Appellant, Appendix A). This left no time within the remaining case schedule to identify and disclose a rebuttal expert and arrange for necessary depositions without further modification to the case schedule, including the trial date. Though counsel repeatedly indicated that Dr. Barnett was identified before the discovery cut-off, counsel's statements ignored the fact that the witness disclosure deadline for Muhl was December 20, 2013, and the disclosure deadline for Davies' disclosure of rebuttal witnesses was May 2, 2014. (Brief of Appellant, Appendix A). Moreover, as of the date of the hearing, the August 1 deadline for exchange of witness and exhibit lists and documentary exhibits for trial had already passed. Finally, it is clear from the record that the Court also had issues with the admissibility of Dr. Barnett's opinion. (RP August 8, 2014 pgs. 9-10).

///

.

///

///

C. Standard of Review.

1. The Standard of Review for Summary Judgment is De Novo.

On summary judgment, the appellate court reviews the motion *de novo*. <u>Davis v. Fred's Appliance, Inc.</u>, 171 Wn. App. 348, 287 P.3d 51 (2012). In employment cases, the court engages in a burden shifting analysis:

The moving party bears the initial burden of showing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Once that burden is met, the burden shifts to the party with the burden of proof at trial to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case. If the claimant fails to meet that burden, the trial court should grant the motion because there can be no genuine issue of material fact given that a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.

<u>Washington v. Boeing Co.</u>, 105 Wn. App. 1, 7, 19 P.3d 1041 (2001) (analyzing <u>Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.</u>, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989)). The court may grant summary judgment when the record conclusively shows some other, nondiscriminatory reasons for the employment decision, or if the plaintiff creates a weak issue of fact as to whether the employer's proffered explanation for its decision is untrue, and abundant and uncontroverted evidence reveals no discrimination. <u>Milligan v. Thompson</u>, 110 Wn. App. 628, 637, 42 P.3d 418 (2002). As demonstrated herein, Muhl cannot establish a *prima facie* case of any species of discrimination; even if Muhl did so, Davies' basis for its employment decision conclusively reveals no discrimination. Washington courts have repeatedly held that "the courts are ill-equipped to act as super personnel agencies." <u>White v. State</u>, 131 Wn.2d 1, 19-20, 929 P.2d 396 (1997) (quoting <u>White v. State</u>, 78 Wn. App. at 840, 898 P.2d 331 (citing <u>Washington Fed 'n of State Employees v. State Personnel Bd.</u>, 29 Wn. App. 818, 820, 630 P.2d 951 (1981)) (Supreme Court granted summary judgment because non-moving party failed to present sufficient *prima facie* case).

2. Summary Judgment Cannot be Overcome Based on Self Serving Assertions Contrary to Prior Testimony.

A non-moving party cannot survive summary judgment merely by offering testimony which contradicts prior unequivocal testimony. CR 56(e). Speculation and argumentative assertions, without more, will not establish genuine issues of material fact. Leonard v. Pierce County, 116 Wn. App. 60, 65-66, 721 P.2d 1 (1986); CR 56(e). Moreover, "[when] a party has given clear answers to unambiguous [deposition] questions which negate the existence of any genuine issue of material fact, that party cannot thereafter create such an issue with an affidavit that merely contradicts, without explanation, previously given clear testimony." Duckworth v. Langland, 95 Wn. App. 1, 7-8, 966 P.2d 1287 (1998) (citing

Marshall v. AC&S Inc., 56 Wn. App. 181, 185, 782 P.2d 1107 (1989)). "An affidavit cannot be used to create an issue of material fact by contradicting deposition testimony." <u>Davis v. Fred's Appliance, Inc.</u>, 171 Wn. App. 348, 287 P.3d 51 (2012) analyzing <u>McCormick v. Lake Wash.</u> <u>Sch. Dist.</u>, 99 Wn. App. 107, 111, 992 P.2d 511 (1999).

3. The Appellate Court Reviews Sanctions for Discovery Violations and Evidentiary Rulings for Abuse of Discretion.

No error is assigned or briefed regarding the trial Court's order to strike the opinion of Dr. Barnett in opposition to Davies' motion for summary judgment. (See Appellants' Opening Brief; CP 663-64). Rather, the trial Court's decision to bar Dr. Barnett from testifying at trial is assigned error. This ruling is moot if the motion for summary judgment is upheld. Discovery sanctions are reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>Phillips v. Richmond</u>, 59 Wn.2d 571, 369 P.2d 299 (1962). An appellate court reviews a trial court's evidentiary rulings for abuse of discretion. <u>State v.</u> <u>Powell</u>, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995); <u>Kappelman v. Lutz</u>, 167 Wn.2d 1, 6, 217 P.3d 286 (2009). Discretion is abused when it is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. <u>State ex. Rel.</u> <u>Carrol v. Junker</u>, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). "On appeal, an order maybe sustained on any basis supported by the record." <u>Hadley v.</u> Cowan, 60 Wn. App. 433, 444, 804 P.2d 1271 (1991).

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